

ANNEX – ANNUAL SECTORAL REPORT 


Chapter 3: Services

	Chapter 3 (a: 2): Business Services: Accounting

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements
	No changes
	All graduated public accountants that can provide their services either in a dependent way (private or public firms) or independently (independent auditors and bookkeepers) have to join the Society of Public Accountants in order to be granted official recognition.

Their profession is self - regulated under the rules of the Society of Public Accountants.

Also, there are non-university diplomas for bookkeeping services in accounting.  However, these are not recognized by the Society of Public Accountants.
	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No changes
	Basic qualification procedures required by the Society of Public Accountants:

· 5 year bachelor’s degree from a public or private university. 

· License / Professional title, obtained by taking a professional examination, a thesis or a combination of both 

· Those that did not work before in auditing receive a nine-month course at the Public Society of Accountants

After these procedures, professionals can become members of the professional body, provided the absence of a criminal record.

There are no nationality or residency requirements.


	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes
	There is no discriminatory treatment.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No changes
	There is no discriminatory treatment.


	


	Chapter 3 (a: 3): Business Services: Architectural

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No changes
	All architects in Peru, working dependent or independently, have to belong to the Architects Society of Peru. The profession is regulated by law, which allows self-regulation but in a centralized way. However, inside the Society there are different entities that outline a decentralized administration.


	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No changes
	The basic qualification requirement solicited by the Architects Society for practicing the profession is to have a Professional title issued, revalidated or acknowledged by Peruvian laws. 

Basic qualification procedures required by the Architects Society:

· 5 year bachelor’s degree from a public or private university. 

· License / Professional title, obtained by taking a professional examination, a thesis or a combination of both 

After these procedures, professionals can become members of the professional body, provided the absence of a criminal record.

There are no nationality or residency requirements.


	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes
	Foreign architects looking for temporary work in Peru can offer their professional services, but have to pay the Architects Society an access fee that is 4 times greater than for Peruvian professionals (US$ 250 vs. US$ 1,000).  For permanent stay, foreign architects have to pay an access fee that is 12 times greater than for nationals (US$ 250 vs. US$ 3,000).

Additionally, temporary Foreign Service providers are required to provide a written recommendation from 3 Peruvian architects with at least a 10-year work experience. 


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/MFN
	No changes
	There is no discriminatory treatment.
	


	Chapter 3 (a: 4): Business Services: Engineering

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No changes
	All engineers working dependent or independently have to belong to the Engineers Society of Peru. The profession is regulated by law, which allows self-regulation. The Society’s National Congress of Departmental Councils -- its main organ -- implements professional regulation in a centralized manner. There are also other complementary organs that configure the decentralized administration of this Society.

 
	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No changes
	The basic qualification requirement demanded by the Architects Society for practicing the profession is to have a Professional title issued, revalidated or acknowledged by Peruvian laws. 

Basic qualification procedures required by the Engineers Society:

· 5 year bachelor’s degree from a public or private university. 

· License / Professional title, obtained by taking a professional examination, a thesis or a combination of both 

After these procedures, professionals can become members of the professional body, provided the absence of a criminal record.

There are no nationality or residency requirements.


	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes
	Foreign engineers looking for temporary work in Peru can offer their professional services, but have to pay the Engineers Society an access fee that is 4 times greater than for Peruvian professionals (US$ 133 vs. US$ 532).

Additionally, temporary Foreign Service providers are required to provide a written recommendation from 3 Peruvian engineers. 


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No changes
	There is no discriminatory treatment.
	


	Chapter 3 (b: 1): Communication Services: Postal

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	The provision of postal services given in a concession is granted for a minimum of 5 years and a maximum of 20 years (renewable). The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction grants concessions. Services providers can be either domestic or foreign.  


	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	The main requirements for a postal concession are:

· General information about the natural or legal person applying for the concession.

· Judiciary and police background certification 

· Local warrantee 

· Fees  
	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes


	There is no discrimination.  Foreign providers must have commercial presence within the country.
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (b: 2): Communication Services: Express Delivery

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	The provision of express delivery services given in a concession is granted for a minimum of 5 years and a maximum of 20 years (renewable). The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction grants concessions. Services providers can be either domestic or foreign.  

The provision of this service is guided by the principle of freedom of transit established by the Universal Postal Agreement.    


	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	For license emission postal concessionaires must provide the Customs Administration with: 

· General information about the natural or legal person applying for the concession.

· Concession contract with the Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction

· Legal documentation about the firm’s constitution 

· Local warrantee 


	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination. Foreign providers must have commercial presence within the country.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (b: 3): Communication Services: Telecommunications

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No changes
	According to Peru’s legislation, the State promotes free competition regarding the provision of telecommunication services.  Regulation is focused in controlling abuse of market power and restrictive practices. The use of a scarce natural factor such as the radio electric space is granted under concessions.

Ministry of Transports, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC) www.mtc.gob.pe
Supervisory Organization for Private Investment in Telecommunications (OSIPTEL)

www.osiptel.gob.pe
	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No changes
	MTC classifies telecommunication services into 4 categories that are granted either under concession or authorization:

· Network services: Involves essential facilities (networks). Given under concession.

· Final services: (such as phone services). Its provision implies networks and the use of the radio electric space.  Given under concession.

· Broadcasting services such as TV and radio require a concession when it implies a public service. Private services can be authorized or licensed.  

· Value added services require only authorization.


	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes
	In the case of broadcasting services (television, radio, among others) the current legislation reserves its provision to nationals. In the case of legal persons all shareholders must be nationals. 

  
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (b: 4): Communication Services: Audio-visual

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	Some domestic regulation is applicable for the production of Peruvian films. Other audiovisual services provision is mostly unregulated. 
	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	Peruvian Law establishes that all-audiovisual service providers must have a 50% minimum space in their daily programming in order to broadcast Peruvian artists. 
	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	Some discrimination to national treatment is present in filmmaking.  Peruvian law establishes that 80% of artists and film technicians taking part in any production have to be nationals. Other exclusions apply in relation to some specific personnel.

Furthermore, stockholders in any audiovisual production are required by Law to be nationals. 


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination. 
	


	Chapter 3 (c): Construction and Related Engineering Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	Public and private constructors can carry out any kind of construction works, provided they have permission from the local Municipality.

Public works are given in concessions. Public bids are open to all bidders, foreign and nationals. 

All bidders taking part in public works have to be registered at the National Register of Public Works Contractors. 
	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes


	Registration requires that each contractor can demonstrate the financial viability of the firm.

The criteria for granting a concession basically takes into account the following items: 

· Structure and level of tariffs

· Length of concession agreement

· Financial offer

· Revenues to be guaranteed by the State

· Risks sharing

· Methodology for tariff adjustments


	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination. 
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (d): Distribution Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	In general, current policies promote free competition between foreigner and national service providers. Main operational requirements come from administrative and technical requisites set by Municipalities.


	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	For the transport of hydrocarbons by pipes, a concession can be granted for a 20 - 60 year period. 

Candidates for this kind of concession have to fulfill the following requisites:

· General information about the bidder

· Project description

· Technical specifications about the transport system

· Time schedule

· Project Budget

· Annual estimates of volumes to be transported

· Environmental impact study

· Bank warrantee

· Favorable technical report from OSINERG (Energy Regulator)

· Tariff proposal 


	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (e): Education Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	Private education services must fulfill minimal requirements specified by the government for educational activities in order to fund, promote, lead and manage particular educational institutions.

Ministry of Education

www.minedu.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	In order to take part in educational activities, the current legislation requests: 

· To conform a legal organization

· To fulfill the requirements asked by the Ministry of Education

· To attain a favorable report from an architect or civil engineer, who notifies about the suitability of the establishment where the educational institution will operate.
	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	· Public educational services: The government promotes free education and reserves to itself the administration and control of all public institutions. 

· Private education services: There is no discrimination between nationals and foreigners. 
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (f): Environmental Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	According to current legislation, studies for environmental impact must be carried out by registered private or public authorized organizations. All institutions must follow guidelines set by the National Environmental Commission (CONAM).  

Sanitary services provision, such as water and sewage, is supervised by the National Supervisor of Sanitary Services (SUNASS). Firms in this service sector must be constituted under the form of anonymous association, though some exceptions apply depending on the nature of the service provided.

National Supervisor of Sanitary Services (SUNASS)

www.sunass.gob.pe
National Environmental Commission  (CONAM)

www.conam.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	For the supply of environmental services, the current legislation requests:

· To conform a legal organization

· To fulfill the requirements from Ministries that need a specific service.
	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes
	There is no discrimination.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (g): Financial Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	Firms in this service sector must be constituted under the form of anonymous association, though some exceptions apply depending on the nature of the service provided. Financial services are supervised following international standards such as the Basel Principles for Banking services, the International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS), principles for insurance services and international principles related to stock exchange services (OIOSCO).

Also, people involved in managing financial institutions must have both moral and economic solvency.

· Central Bank of Peru (BCRP) www.bcrp.gob.pe
· Superintendence of Banks and Insurance Companies (SBS) www.sbs.gob.pe 

· National Commission of Insurance Companies and Equities (CONASEV) www.conasev.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and 

Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	In order to establish a financial institution in Peru, the current legislation asks to provide:

· Social statute,

· Description of services to be provided,

· Fulfill minimum capital requirements (they are of different magnitude, depending if it is a bank, a credit cooperative, Municipal Funds, investment banks, insurance companies, and so on). 
	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes


	There is no discrimination regarding the 4 modes of supply: cross-border, commercial presence, consumption abroad and temporal movement of persons. 


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/ MFN
	No Changes
	The Law includes a provision that takes into account the principle of reciprocity under specific conditions.
	


	Chapter 3 (h): Health Related and Social Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	According to the current legislation, Peru promotes free competition in the provision of health related and social services.  Market regulation is necessary for controlling situations of possible abuse of market power and restrictive practices. Health related and social services are granted under concession or authorization. 

Ministry of Health (MINSA)

www.minsa.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	Health establishments have to satisfy requirements set by the Ministry of Health with respect to physical plants, equipment, assistant personnel, sanitary systems, risk control systems, among others.

Professionals working in health establishments are required to have a professional license.


	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes


	There is no discrimination.
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (i): Tourism and Travel Related Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements
	No Changes
	According to the current legislation, Peru promotes free competition between foreign and national service providers. Services must fulfill minimal technical specifications.

Ministry of Foreign Trade and Tourism (MINCETUR)

www.mincetur.gob.pe

	On December 2000, a Supreme Decree was published aimed to simplify administrative procedures about registration and concessions to providers. 

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	Tourism and travel related services are basically classified into 4 categories.  

The Ministry of Foreign Trade and Tourism grants authorizations for these categories: 

· Tourist guides: Must register in the Tourism Guide Registry administered by the National Direction of Tourism at MINCETUR

· Restaurants: Must register in the Unified Registry of taxpayers, which is administered by the Tax Administration.

· Hotels and Lodges: Must seek authorization from the National Direction of Tourism, register in the Unified Registry of taxpayers and apply for a license from the respective Municipality

· Travel Agencies: Must seek authorization from the National Direction of Tourism.

For each of these categories there is a different set of administrative requirements.


	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.  However, foreign tourist guides are required to obtain an inscription certificate from the National Direction of Tourism at MINCETUR. 
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/ MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (j): Recreational Cultural and Sporting Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	In general, cultural services can be provided freely except some such as the administration of museums, which require an authorization from the National Institute of Culture (INC)

Recreational services are also provided freely, except for casinos and slot machines services. The National Casino Commission at MINCETUR regulates these activities.

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes


	· Casinos and slot machines: 

a. Design and construction requirements.  Video, supervision and surveillance requirements.

b. Casinos and Slot machines can only be situated in specific locations and establishments

c. In both cases they have to provide a local warrantee. 

· Cultural Services: Must seek authorization from the INC.

· Sporting Services: Must comply with requirements from the National Sports Institute.

· Cultural services: For some activities, must seek authorization from the INC. 


	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (k: 1): Transport Services: Maritime

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No changes
	For almost all transport services (aerial, land and aquatic) there are reservations regarding national treatment. 

The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction is in charge of policies related to the liberalization of this sector and the Supervisory Transport Organization (OSITRAN) is the regulatory public entity.

Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC) www.mtc.gob.pe
Supervisory Organism of Transport (OSITRAN) www.ositran.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	National maritime companies in order to operate must fulfill the following requirements requested by MTC:

· To be constituted in accordance with Peruvian law,

· Social statute,

· Describe type of services offered, number of operating ships, traffic, routes and frequencies. 
	

	Foreign Entry
	
	February 2001: Legislation that discriminates against foreign providers was introduced.

Commercial maritime transport of passengers and cargo amongst Peruvian ports is reserved exclusively for merchant ship of Peruvian flag and for chartered or operated ships of foreign flag, which are owned by national shipping companies. 

Also, fluvial passenger transport is reserved exclusively for national operators.
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	Participation of foreign shipping companies will only be granted on the base of reciprocity.

Also, there are some exemptions to the MFN treatment in the framework of the Andean Community (www.comunidadandina.org)


	


	Chapter 3 (k: 2): Transport Services: Air

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	For almost all transport services (aerial, land and aquatic) there are reservations with respect to national treatment. 

The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction is in charge of policies related to the liberalization of this sector and the Supervisory Transport Organization (OSITRAN) is the regulatory public entity.

Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC)

www.mtc.gob.pe
Supervisory Organism of Transport (OSITRAN)

www.ositran.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	Companies must fulfill the following requirements requested by MTC in order to operate:

· Air Navigation Certificate issued by the Civil Aeronautics General Direction 

· Operating or Flight Permission issued by the Civil Aeronautics General Direction.
	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	With respect to commercial aviation services the current legislation reserves its provision to nationals.  Some exceptions apply.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	Participation of foreign air companies in the transport of load or passengers will only be granted on the base of strict reciprocity

There are some exemptions to the MFN treatment in the framework of the Andean Community (www.comunidadandina.org)


	


	Chapter 3 (k: 3): Transport Services: Rail

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction is in charge of policies related to the liberalization of this sector and the Supervisory Transport Organization (OSITRAN) is the regulatory public entity.

According to the current legislation, the State promotes free competition in rail transport services. 

Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC)

www.mtc.gob.pe
Supervisory Organism of Transport (OSITRAN)

www.ositran.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC) grants Rail Transport Services under concession.

In order to operate rail firms must obtain: 

· Operating Permission issued by MTC


	

	Foreign Entry
	No changes
	There is no discrimination.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/                                                                     MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


	Chapter 3 (k: 4): Transport Services: Road

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	
	For almost all transport services (aerial, land and aquatic) there are reservations regarding national treatment. 

The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC) is in charge of policies related to the liberalization of this sector and the Supervisory Transport Organization (OSITRAN) is the regulatory public entity.

Road transport services can be classified into highway and urban transport services. The MTC and the District and Provincial Municipalities can grant highway and urban transport services under concession.  

Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC)  www.mtc.gob.pe
Supervisory Organism of Transport (OSITRAN) www.ositran.gob.pe
	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	Road transport services provision requires an authorization from MTC.  

Individuals must provide:

· Identity personal documents,

· Documents that credit professional and economic sufficiency, and

· Technical and operational capacity.

Companies must provide:

· Social statute,

· Documents that credit professional and economic sufficiency, and

· Technical and operational capacity


	

	Foreign Entry
	Although not an improvement but a change, Law Nº 27774 (July 2002) consolidated that inter-urban land transports services does not have free access. 
	Road transport services for passengers and cargo is reserved for Peruvian individuals and companies. Also, since July 2001 there are band prices and minimum number of transport units.
	

	Discriminatory Treatment/ MFN
	No Changes
	There exist some exemptions to the MFN treatment in the framework of the Andean Community (www.comunidadandina.org)


	


	Chapter 3 (k: 5): Transport Services: Other

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	According to the current legislation Peru promotes free competition of these services.

The Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction is in charge of policies related to the liberalization of this sector, and the Supervisory Transport Organization (OSITRAN) is the regulatory public entity.

Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction (MTC)

www.mtc.gob.pe
Supervisory Organism of Transport (OSITRAN)

www.ositran.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	In order to operate as a multimodal transport operator, a company must obtain commercial qualification, be registered and obtain an authorization from the Ministry of Transport, Communications, Housing and Construction. 
	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There exist some exemptions to the MFN treatment in the framework of the Andean Community. www.comunidadandina.org

	


	Chapter 3 (l): Energy Services

	Section


	Improvements Implemented Since Last IAP
	Current Entry Requirements 
	Further Improvements Planned

	Operational Requirements


	No Changes
	Energy transmission and distribution activities can be developed by companies, which must be constituted in accordance with Peruvian laws. The same company can not handle transmission and distribution activities. Some exceptions apply. 

The Ministry of Energy and Mines grants concessions and OSINERG, the regulator, is in charge of the preservation of competition and fair market practices.

Shipping of oil by foreigners is only allowed if the company establishes a branch or constitutes an organization according to Peruvian laws, whereby establishing residence in Peru and designating a national agent.

Ministry of Energy and Mines (MEM) www.mem.gob.pe
Supervisory Organism of Investments in Energy (OSINERG)

www.osinerg.gob.pe

	

	Licensing and Qualification Requirements of Service Providers


	No Changes
	In general, concessions are of an indefinite length of time. Temporal concessions are usually oriented towards studies about power generation centers and lines of transmission.

Basic requisites for concessions are the following:

· General information on the company

· Pre-project description 

· Description of studies needed / required 

· Feasibility study

· Authorization for the exploitation of natural resources (if applicable)

· Valid warrantee. 

Permanent concessions require similar items plus an environmental impact study.
	

	Foreign Entry
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.


	

	Discriminatory Treatment/

MFN
	No Changes
	There is no discrimination.
	


